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M: The last time we had been talking about the budgetary process and
how the budget worked. To pick that up and ask you a few more
guestions about that, did the acceleration of the Vietnam War
give you increasing difficulties with the budget? Did you have

L
&)

nift resources?

w

Zﬁ In two phases. First, somewhere in 1967 I guess, when Schultze
was budget director and the build-up was taking place, at that
point we were having trouble with the totals. The programs were
too large when you added them all up. There was still a great drive
on the part of the President to continue new legislation, keep‘them
both going. But if you'll remember, it was in August of 1967 that
we ésked for the surcharge, and immediately the issue of why not
cut spending as an alternative to the surcharge came up. Once we
started asking for the surcharge seriously we knew that we had
serious spending problems. We had to start cutting back in the
fall. In fact, in the fall of 1967 we finally passed a law that
1imited obligations--in that year it was obligations, the so-called

2-10, 2 percent on personnel and 10 percent on other objects, a
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holdback. That was the first sort of arbitrary ceiling that was
put in and enacted, which was supposed tovbe part of getting the
surcharge. We got the ceiling on spending, but We didn't get the
surcharge until June of 1968. Then they said, "We'll wait until

we see the next yéar's budget." When that happened, that was
November or December. They enacted that and said, "We'll wait
until next year's budget; when we see the fiscal 1969 budget, we'll
then decide on the surcharge."

As soon as Schultze produced that budget I took over almost
immediately. The only testifying he did on that budget was before
tne Ways and Means Committee before it was publicly available.

He outlined the totals, and again they said it was too high. So
we were,Trom the time I took over through the passing of the sur-
charge, concernad with the totals, getting them dﬁwn éhd making
them acceptable to the committee to pass the surcharge. Then we
got the six billion dollar spending cut. The question was where
this cut was going to come from. And then putting the 1970 budget
together we clearly were concerned with holding the budget down
because of the need to extend the surcharge. Buf always it was

in terms of, "The totals are too big, you've got to get the totals

1

smaller," rather than, "Vietnam is going up, and therefore we've got
to compensate." There was never any of that sort of trade off as
you've expressed it, sort of, "Vietnam's going up three, other's
have got to go down three." They are certainly indirectly

related we would hear because, "The totals are high, too high,
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and therefore we've got to cut back. We can't cut back iﬁ Vietnam,
and we must cut back somewhere else."

M: I see. Is it true that always when you form a budget the totals
are too high, regardiess of whether you've got a war, anyway?

Z: Yes. The normal sequence was that we would cut about 20 percent
off of their requests. They'd ask for 20 percent more than they
expected, I suppose, and you'd negotiate them back down. So that's
always the case. But the question of whether it was too big or
not was a public issue. When you're not changing the taxes,
the issue of whether the total is too big is a political judgment
on the part of the administration and is fought out in the indivi-
dual appropriations. When you started to ask for a surcharge,
change the tax structure, then you brought the Ways and Means
Committee into this act, and you had another hurdle to jump. We
just had a good example this week, with the arguments that we ought
to cut spending rathef than pass the surcharge, with the arguments
for putting another spending ceiling on the administration. This
is fiscal 1970 we're talking about now. And just two days ago the
House passed the education bill and added a billion dollars to the
administration's request on thé education bill.

M: Is it fair to say that the surcharge was directly caused by the
Vietnam War, or was it just a general increase in the cost of
government?

Z: You can argue it either way, but clearly if the Vietnam War didn't

exist you wouldn't have needed the surcharge. You could have had
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more programs. Coming at it from another direction, I argued up
through 1967 or 1968 that civilian programs were expanding about
as rapidly as we'd ever seen them expand, and without the Vietnam
War I doubt that we would have expanded them any more rapidly. I
don't think they he]d back domestic programs. The holdbacks were
the more traditional.arguments about education and health, private
versus public expenditures and the size of the public sector. It
had hothing to do with the Vietnam War. We were levering those
programs up at a fairly fast rate. When you got to the point to
continue those programs expanding and also finance the war in a
sensible fashion, you had }o change the tax structure. Then you
reached a new issue. It was at that point, then, that all of this
went into the tzx forum. But I really think that if you'll Took
at the rate at which civilian programs expanded, and»expenditures
expanded in 1965, 1966 and 1967, you'll see they did very well. I
think the Vietnam expenditures were not a conflict up to that
point.

M: Up to thgt point, then, the argument of having bofh guns and

butter worked?

Z: That's right.
M: But after that--
Z: When you couldn't support both guns and butter without an increase

in taxes, then you were in trouble.
M: I see.

Z: As long as you could do them both without asking for a tax increase,
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you were all right, but the moment you asked for a tax increase
to do both, that's when problems began.
M: You must have gotten right in the middle, then, of that demand of

the Ways and Means Committee for a budget cut.

Z: That's right.
M: Do you recall when you first got news of that demand?
Z: That demand was going on forever. Tom Curtis, congressman from

Missouri, St. Louis, for Ways and Means, was always complaining
about too much spending. When we had to go up for debt limit
increases, that was the vehicle the Ways and Means Committee used
for arguing expenditures were too high and trying to control them
through the debt limit, which they recognized was a pretty ineffi-
cient way, in fact a poor way of doing it, but it gave them a
vehicle. It gave them a vehicle to question the budget, which
they didn't have under normal procedures. So that wasn't a new
demand. What was new was we now needed something, we needed a tax,
and since we needed a tax we had to Tisten to their demands. Up
to that point, by and large, they couldn't make their demands
effective. So when you ask that question, "When did I know about
'it?", we knew it was coming down the road.

M: Is it true that there was more or less of a compromise between the
White House and Wilbur Mills on‘this?

Z: Yes.

M: Did you help fashion that compromise?

Z: Yes. There were a couple of infamous meetings over in the Cabinet
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Room with Wilbur and George Mahon. I guess those were the ones
that really just involved the President and Secretary Fowler, myself,

I think maybe Califano and Barefoot Sanders, a White House staff

member.
M: How did you go about reaching a compromise point?
Z: That's sort of asking, "How did Lyndon Johnson operate?" These were

long meetings with, you know, "We've got to work this out." The
compromise that came out was not what we thought we'd agreed to
that night. If you remember that history, it was a fairly compli-
plicated package, for a non-technician, which was to cut budget
authority by ten billion, cut appropriations by eight--no, ten
billion budget authority, I'm forgetting this already; rescind
eight biliion in balances, and cut expenditures four billion. This
got paésed through the Appropriations Committee and paésed out of
the Ways and Means Committee, and then we got loggerheaded in the
Conference Committee. We ended up with a ten billion cut in the
budget authority, six billion cut in rescinding balances, and we
went around and around. A1l of us thought it was going to end up
at ten, six, five and it ended up as ten, eight, six, I think. I
still don't know whether Wilbur Mills changed his mind that last
day or notj; it certainly wasn't what we expected.

M: Do you have any impressions about the ability of Wilbur Mills?

Z: Yes. I think he's very capable, one of the most capable legislators
up there. What I don't have a clear feel for at this point, which

I think is the key issue, is how much of this he does in an ad hoc,
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seat of the pants fashion and how much of all this is premeditated.
There's one image of Wilbur Mills that he knows exactly where he's
going to end up, andit's a long, difficult, tortuous, if you want
to be not affectionate to him, a devious route. But he knows wherev
he's going and hevget;there. There's another viewpoint, and I don't
know which of these I believe at this point, that he doesn't really
know. He starts out on thé thing and he sort of ends up in that
Tast day. As I hinted earlier, it ended up six billion, and he
didn't think it was going to end up six billion. But he got mad
and we wouldn't give him any more on budget authority, so he said,
"The nell with it, make it six billion." I think that;s the most
interesting issue with regard to Wilbur Mills, and I don't know

the answer to that one. How much it is a very elaborate, premedi-
tated, well thought out strategy to get from A to B, and how much
he starts out and feels his way to some solution.

The stories about this give Wilbur Mills credit for béing a main
antagonist to the government. I was curious about George Mahon.
How big a role did he play in this?

George played a significant role. He was always more sympathetic
to the administration's point of view, I think. In terms of basic
fiscal outlook, conservatism, from Texas, small town, he was proba-
bly as conservative or more conservative than Wilbur Mills, yet

he was much more cooperative, a friend of the President's. Whether
it was the friendship to the President or just his loyalty to the

party and administration I don't know, but George was always trying
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to work out anything that was acceptable basically.

M: To those with a cynical turn of mind, there always arises a question
in compromises of this nature as to whether there was any other
deal thrown in to get the compromise, such as the President saying
to Wilbur Mills, "If you'll give me this, I'11 allow you to appoint
a postmaster in Podunk, Arkansas," or something like that. Can you
tell me if there was anything other than the straight compromise
on this? 1Is there any other price you had to pay,in other words?

Z: In a1l the time I was there I never saw such a deal. .You described the
classic image of how such a negotiation might take place. I don't
think I ever saw one take place Tike that in this or anything else.

wWhen you were wooing a senator or congressman you might be doing |

favors for him ajong the way, and the assumption was he remembered
that when he sat down to negotiate this out. But I néVer saw
anyone say, "Here's my pile of chips and here's yours, and

that does it." This is something that was done on a more sophis-

ticated, long-term basis. Sure, during all this Wilbur was always

on the phone worrying about soybeans, and if you think about

Arkansas you know why he was interested in soybean prices. He

was always interested in dairy prices, which intrigued me for a

long time. I didn't know why he was so interested in dairy prices

until somebody pointed out that John Byrnes is from Wisconsin, and
he was very interested in the support prices for milk and butter

and so forth. Wilbur to carry the committee had to bring his

counterpart, John Byrnes, along.
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So that there was always a continual dialogue between congress-
men and senators and the Administration over matters of interest. I
keep getting kidded now around here when I talk to my Congressman
or the local people because I vetoed an oceanographic building over
here on Key Biscayne--which,by the way,President Nixon's put back
>in the budget, and I knew he would, having been Tocated at Key
Biscayne--and dredging of this harbor and so forth. There was
always a continuous dialogue between the executive and congressmen
and senators vis-a-vis projects of importance to their home district
or their state. Now when you were wooing him you could help him

on these things, but nobody ever sat down at a table and bargained

directly.
M Totaled up an account?
L: --totaled up an account in quite that blunt fashidn. It may have

been done, but it certainly wasn't done in this case.

M: Well, to move on to ﬁome other programs that came up. You've
mentioned,and I ought to get it on this tape, that you had little
to do with foreign developments such as the SDR.

Z: That's right. By and large the Treasury and the Council of
Economic Advisers and the White.House assistant, either Francis
Bator or later Ed Fried, who came from the State Department to
replace Bator, and he's up at Brookings now, handled these,
and we didn't get into it.

M: Would this include also balance of payments?

Z: Balance of payments we got involved in to theextent that there were
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involvements about U.S. personnel overseas, tying of foreign aid
to purchaée of goods in the United States, or buy American policies,
these sorts of things. So we got more involved in the balance of
payments because they would impinge back on responsibilities we
had towards the budget. The whole SDR thing was pretty much some-
thing we observed from the sideline.

M: Yes. What about some of the domestic programs such as pollution,
air pollution and water pollution, did you get involved in those?

Z: Yes, very heavily. The sorts of issues there were, we were expanding
those programs very rapidly, more rapidly than we were quite sure
of what we were doing I think at times. There were two sorts of
issues. There was a lot of bureaucrat maneuvering for new missions
ners betwesan Interior, HEW and Transportation on air pollution in
automobiles, between Interior and HEW on water and sorbn. So you
had a 1ot of internal bureaucratic fighting for new missions. And
then when we got down further in the road in 1968 or so when the
budget squeeze was on, about this time you got into the funding
problem and how could you fund them at that point. We started to
develop an off the budget funding if you will, in the sense of
asking the--which never passed--municipalities and states to raise
the money, and then we would amortize the cost of it over-
time, which would sort of relieve the budget pressure. We got
deeply involved structuring them and trying to sort out the bureau-
cratic issues, who was going to do what to whom, and then later on

it became a real funding issue.
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M: Yes. As I recall,there was some shifting of programs, water quality,
for example. Did you get involved in that?

Z: I personally did not. The bureau was deeply invoived. This sort
of intramural fighting among agencies of who should db what was
something that was the classic role of the bureau to get in and
try to recommend to the White House some sensible a]]bcation of
responsibilities here. We were deeply involved in that; Sam
Hughes, the deputy director then and now, was more involved in this
program. The whole question of resource development, Corps of
Enagineers projects, reclamation projects, small watershed projects,
post offices, were just big time consuming items. As I said
earlier, congressmen were always on the phone concerned and worried
about these. There was always a natural division of labor between
the director and the deputy director. The deputy director, for
better or for worse, always endéd up with that package of real

hot potatoes.

M: Did the bureau also get involved in forming legislation for those
programs?
Z: Yes.- Because you couldn't get agreement among the agencies about

how it would be drafted and who should be responsible and so forth.
So in this legislation we were always deeply involved, usually
allied with the Treasury. Council and ourselives, the economists
if you will, saying for example in the case of the water pollution,
"We will give you money if and only if you'll set up certain

standards and charge user charges to the people who are polluting
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the waters," writing a fairly tough bill with federal standards
for a watershed or an air shed and with user charges for the
polluters so that it would reduce the cast. And by the time
Congress would be done with it, it'd come back as practically
automatic formula Qrants to the states, with Tittle or nothing
in the way of standards. We were always very deeply involved in
that legislation.

M: What about education acts, e]emenfary and secondary education?

Z: Again, a very active role in all that legislation with HEW also.
The bureau would always be in the role of producing a tough set of
federal standards. We always would be pushing for project grants
rather than automatic form&]a grants, so that you could award and
punish, and Conzress always viewed with a great amount of question-
ableness this thing. They like the formula grants, which say you
cut up the pie and you give it to the states on a formula basis,
which essentially reducés the interference by the federal bureau-
cracy. |

M: Can I assume you played the same sort of role in housing bills
such as Model Cities?

Z:- Yes, yes. *That was a little different, in that there wasn't so
much infighting among agencies. This was a big White House-Johnson-
Califano concern. The initial drafting of that{SChultze was deeply
involved in; it was done when Schultze was director. I didn't get
deeply involved in it. The whole set of programs, rent supple-

ments and so forth, the rent supplement program specifically, is
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one that was a bureau idea that Secretary Weaver always thought
was a bad idea that wouldn't get funded. I think in retrospect it
is a good idea and an effective way of doing it, and yet Weaver was
right in that we haven't been able to get the funding for it and we
couldn't sell it. .So in those programs, the sort of the heart of
theGreatSoc{ety programs, I would say that the bureau was deeply
involved in them, but some of them also had great momentum from
the White House.

M: Can you tell me which ones the White House was most concerned with.
You mentioned Model Cities, are there others?

Z: Model Cities was one. Sort of going from Model Cities on, which are
the ones I'm more familiar with, the wnole ten-year housing program
really was one in which if you'd left it to the more traditional
bureaucracy in HUD and the bureau, we never would have been that
ambitious. A combination of the President's:strong feeling produced
two people on Califano's staff, Jim Gaither and Fred Bohen, who
were much interested in this, Jim Duesenberry from the Council
staff and myself. We worked hard and came up with a program which
HUD felt was just not feasible and unreasonable and so forth, and. you
had a lot of involvement by the bureau. But you also had the
Teadership of really the White House in that one. If there wasn't
that continual drive, you know, "It's got to be that, it's got to
be bigger and better," and so forth, it wouldn't have happened that
way.

M: Does this interest stem from Lyndon Johnson himself, or from the
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White House staff?

Z: That's a hard question to answer. They were obviously playing this
thing both ways. They were trying to develop their biases on him
and partly some of the things they thought were their biases were
his. I think the best example--we did that one, we did the JOBS
program, and'again Jim Gaither of the White House staff and I
played an important role and essentially had to drag the Labor
Department behind us to do that. If Jim hadn't spent a lot of
time on it I would have been overwhelmed, and I would have succumbed
I'm sure to the more conservative attitudes of the bureaucracy.

So in that sense there was a joint leadership here, but it was
important that the White House had this interest.

Now why did those go? There was this alliance of businessmen
with Henry Ford; the businessmen, I think the Presideﬁf,'had an
affinity for that program. Take the food program, the feeding
programs which we were all convinced should be bigger programs.

The President was always quite skeptical about these as either

being (a) politically acceptable, and (b) attempts for interference
and intervention in properly state and local affairs. Just generally
philosophicaliy he wasn't sure these weren't just some lazy people
who weren't getting out and earning a living. - He went out of

office without a big feeding program, and that had at various times
the Secretary of Agriculture, Orville Freeman, Charlie Murphy, who
was a close confidante, Joe Califano ahd the whole staff, me, all

of us, just beating on him continuously. And we didn't win.
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So how much we were selling him and how much he was selling
us,I don't know how we are going to ever disentangle because we're
too intimately involved. He :is such a strong personality that people
'sensed what he 1iked to hear, and I think were playing back what he

liked to hear more than they recognized.

M: What about Social Security? In the expansion of that did you play
a part?
Z: The expansion of that, yes. That was almost dictated by the President and

Califano and Wilbur Cohen over the dead bodies of those of us in the
Bureau and the Treasury and the Council of Economic Advisers. OQur
basic argument, without getting into great detail, was that the
Social Security program is fairly regressive.If you think of
forty billion dollars that are flowing in, who it's collected from
and who it's passed back to, that is more regressive than the
general taxes that we take in and how we distribute them. We were
arguing that the Sociai Security increases were eating up our fiscal
elbowroom for other programs, and that as far as the blue collar
worker was concerned, another five dollars out of his check was
five dollars out of his check, and he could care less, you know,
whether it went for Social Security. All he looked at was his
take-home pay, and so we were usually a solid force resisting these.
Califano was on the other side. Now here's a case where
I suspect Califano was responding to what he thought was (a)
politically doable, and (b) the Presideﬁt wanted in this case. But

there was just always great political sex appeal to this because
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all those old people vote. 1It's always easier to get money for
old people than kids, because kids don't vote. Politicians under-
stood that very well. I understand that this administration is
now going through the same rethinkingbof that, and they're going
to up the Social Security benefits. So the Social Security stuff
we were deeply involved in and always lost.

M: Do you recall any other major programs that the White House was
particularly interested in when you were director?

Z: The newest ones were the ten-year housing programs and the JOBS
program, in which we were to involve the private sector. Those were the
big cnes. Then it was a continuation of model cities, the cohtinua—
btion oT the so-called CEPé, the Concentrated Employment Programs.
By then we had Jots of, "How are we going to finance the pollution
programs we have on the books?" and so forth. By the time I got
there we were in trouble.

i This might be a good point to ask you about authorization versus
appropriation. It would seem obvious from a layman's point of view
that if you can’'t get the money, no matter what's on the books,
it's not going to do you much good.

Z: Well, yes, this is true. The legislative technicians, and I include
in there the President and Califano and Wilbur Cohen, were of the
school that you take what you can get and run. Then they would
come back and say, "Oh, just start it with five million or ten
million, a foot in the door." And if you look at the HEW program,

it's just loaded with little bitty programé. Some of them we
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haven't funded, but most of them we put a little bit in and then
they come back and start working. I was talking with one of the
senior civil servants in the Budget Bureau two days ago, it was

the day after that education vote in the House,‘and he said, "My
God, Charlie, they talk about the military-industrial complex, you
should have seen those educators there. They were hanging}from

the rafters, and they really do have muscle." Being part of that
complex, you probably are not aware of this, but I've always said
that if there was ever a "seventh day in May" after the military
took over there'd probably be a counter revolution by the librarians,
who would probably Capture and run the country for the next hundred
years. The Tibrarian lobby is terribly powerful. fhey've got all
the book publishers, the libraries and the universities and every-
body else pushing here.

So I, in terms of neatness and logic, talked to people down
here who made big plans to do something because they thought the
international education program was going to be funded. It never
got funded, and they felt, you know, that they were let down. It's
a sloppy way to.run your government, not neat, not tidy, not sensi-
ble. But Wilbur Cohen, if he were here would say, "It's the only
way you get things done. You grab it and run when you can. You
worry later about getting it funded, at a low level initially, and
once you get the foot in the door you start." So you ask me,
and from an aesthetic point of view I'm in complete agreemeni,

why get authorizations when you're not going to fund them? From
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a practical point of view of how you get money into programs, I
think the record probably comes out the other way. |

M: You mentioned lobbijes. As director did you have to deal with
Tobbyists much? |

Z: Not too much. 1 don't know what's happening now as a matter of
fact; but the rate things were going during the eight years, the
director's position was becoming more and more a public visible
position; as it became more and more a public visible position,fhe
more you had to deal with lobbyists. I a]ways had speculated at
what road it would take. . It was an unstable situation. Once
when we were looking at reorganization of the bureau,'we looked
at the amount that Dave Bell testffied and the amount that Kermit
Gordon testified, a little bit more, and then when Schu]tze came
in he was testifying all the time. Partly it was this'pro]ifera-
tion of programs, cabinet officers disagreeing with each other.
You'd get Wirtz and Gardner of HEW and Sargent Shriver all supposed
-to be representing the administration.. You know, you'd get them
to agree and you'd clear their testimony, and they'd get up there
and immediately they wouid ad hoc it. And finally Congress said,
"We don't know what the administration's policy is, let's get the
Eudget director up here and have him tell us. Because they were
becoming aware that this was the .closest thing to a White House
assistant they could get.

there was conflict among the cabinet officers on gome

of these programs. They would say, "Let's get the budget director
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up here." That was becoming embarrassing, because that was threatening
the cabinet officers to some extent. It was also making the budget
director g more public figure, and that is inconsistent with the
executive privilege of the White House. You couldn't get Califano
to come up and testify, but you could get the budget director to
come up and testify. He was becoming more and more the last person,
short of the White House, you could get up there. That wasn't on
foreign policy but on a lot of these domestic programs, where there
was confusion and elbowing and the individual departments were up
there trying to sell their point of view. Congress had really no
choice but to assume that the budget director was talking closely
to what the President wanted to hear.

M: Did outside lobbyists concern you much, say the librarians?

Z: They used to come in and‘see the people in the divisiﬁns. We tried
to keep this down. We got some of it, not too much. It's.a matter
I guess of style, really, though. I mentioned earlier the deepening
of this port over here, which I had turned down. It was consis-
tent with our overall policy of emphasizing flood control work and
so forth. I come down and find that all the people in the
bank are deeply involved in this and want to get it deepened, and
Admiral Stevens over here is trying very hard. I said, well, if
they really wanted to get it deepened they had to go and get either
Representative Cramer, who's from Tampa and who's the rankihg minority
member on the House Public Works Committee, or Senator Holland to

put it in this year's bill. Somebody turned to me and said, "Well,
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Admiral Stevens has just spent an hour with Bob Mayo talking about
it." So I called him up and kidded him saying, "What's going on
up there? I wouldn't have let Stevens in my office." Apparently
Mayo has taken more of these sorts of people. I just had a rule.
He could have talked to somebody in the division, but I wouldn't
have let him in my office because I was spending more of my time
doing some other things. So it's the concept of the office.

I suspect right now, if that's typica], that Mayo is seeing
a2 lot more industry people than I would see. I just tried to keep
them out, because there just were not enough hours in the day. My
impression is Mayo is turning over more of the staff work to the
staff and is sitting above it. Now as a concept I think Schultze
and I, at least, felt that we were the last gquys checking the
numbers, we didn't know whether anybody had ever checked them down
in the agencies, and that the President needed somebody to check
‘the numbers and go into the analysis a little more deeply. But
that's a style which can vary with administrations and budget
directors.

M: What about the PPB system, did that work? You must have been the
controlling group in that.

Z: Yes. If it worked the only clue is, really, in the long run are
you doing better decision making in the government? When they
started PPB, and they started that before I came--

M: Yes, that was August of 1965.

Z: August of 1965. Theoretically they had a choice of starting slowly
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and trying to work it out in one or two agencies, or starting
across the board, recognizing that you couldn't start it off

across the board, take some failures, but at least you're started.
Now when it got down to it, I gather they really didn't have an
option, because the President said, "It's a great idea, let's go."
He made an announcement at the cabinet, and they were off and running.
Whether that was good or bad strategy I don't know, but it seemed
to me at the end of the first year we had a couple of agencies that
were doing a good job, another couple that were doing an obviously
bad job, and the rest were sort of in the middle. It seems to me
we were in the position to go back to the others and say, "Look,
thess agencies did a good job simply because they tried a little
harder. You could have done the same thing. This isn't special
purpcse to the Defense establishment," and so forth. As far as

I'm concerned, we were involved in a fairly major revolution about
how do you look at problems, how does information flow, on what
level are decisions made. That battie wasn't over with when we
left, but I think we were making progress.

M: Were you concerned about this as director?

Z: Yes, but more in the grand strategy of sort of getting more control
higher up in the system than I was about format and so forth. Much
of PPB revolved around the paraphernalia, the forms, the PFP's
and all that, which were really instruments to accomplish what
seemed to me was a different display of information on the one

hand, and on the other getting decisions made up at a higher level.
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We wanted all that information thrown up to us. A real tough
cabinet officer like Orville Freeman would say, "To hell with you
guys, I'11 make up my mind, and then I'm going to come as an
adversary to argue my case. I'm not going to give you a]ternafive
information." Andvit was the same sort of problem between Orville
Freeman and the Forest Service and the Soil Conservation Service
and the Farmers Home Administration, who had their alliances with
their committees and their industries and so forth. 1It's the
classic problem of who's running the government. Was it the dJ.
Edgar Hoovers and‘the Ed Cliffs, who's head of the Forest Service,
and the Rasmussens, who's head of Bureau of Land Mahagement? Or
is it the Secretary of Interior and Secretary of Agriculture, or
is it the President?

M: ‘Mas this system universally applicable?

Z: In the broadest definition, yes, clearly yes. The whole thing is
a philosophy of how you look at information and where it would
flow and where it wou]d stop. So as far as I'm concerned it was
broadly applicable. Most of the arguments that it didn't apply
because it was too quantitative or the formats were too rigid
were sort of arguing about the artifacts of the system rather
than the basic objective, which was to change the form of the
dialogue and flow up authority higher up in the system.

M: The reason I ask you about this is that in other interviews in
departments I got this argument that you couldn't define goals,

therefore PPB wouldn't work, or, "We would apply it to part of our
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program, and the Budget Bureau seemed satisfied with that so we
didn't go any further."

Z: There's nothing surprising there. I've heard that. I guess,a, I don't
believe it;b,I think to a large extent they don't believeit when they say
that. WYe didn't fea]ize when we started this what a power struggle
we were taking on. We were saying, "This is just to improve deci-
sion making," but it was also to improve decision making higher
up. There is a well established bureaucracy which has good working
relations with the bureaucracy on the Hill, and they used to resolve
these problems. Now you have the Secretary of Agriculture asking
guestions that he never asked before. He thought that was great,

and th

£
9]

se bureau chiefs, of course the classic is J. Edgar Hoover,

(D

but the head of the Forest Service or the Bureau of Land Management or
men of equal stature in a sense of their independencé”a]most of any
administration are now being asked questions which they didn't
really like. You know, "Give me my money and leave me alone," was
their attitude. In some sense these people were saying it wasn't
applicable. They recognized this and were fighting it in a good
bureaucratic fashion. Partly they didn't recognize it, but they did.

M: | Were there any particular departments you had difficulty working
with, where you found strong resistance?

Z: At the top you had various personalities; cantankerous people
1ike Willard Wirtz, easier people to get along with 1like Bob

Weaver, people in between. But the real difficult ones were the

ones that had these long-term relationships on the Hill. You
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know, we couldn't do anything with the FBI, or the Bureau of
Land Management when we tried to raise grazing fees, or the Forest
Service. They had such an elaborate existing system that they
fought, and they qou]d fight very effectively, this sort of intru-
sion of the executive branch into a well-established thing. We
found that, interestingly enough, even within the bureau this
happened ~ The bureau had six divisions which had then responsi-
bilities down to these agencies. MNow these senior officials had
been in the bureau with the change in administration}and resolved
many conflicts with their counterparts in their agencies, and they
had a way of an informal, not written down anywhere way of doing
business. The same man would deal with the Department of Agri-
culture differently than he would with the Department of Interior
budget officer. In this particular case I'm thinking of the
head of that resources-civil works group, Carl Schwartz. He'd say,
"Gee, you keep giving us more and more of these data systems
to fill out. We never get around to doing our work."
We'd say, "The whole idea of these formats and forms and
information flow is so you can do your work better." And he'd
say, "We never have time to visit with our guys or go on field
trips." I finally realized we were disturbing a well-entrenched,
evolved over a long period of time, procedure.

M: This was Carl Schwartz?

Z: Yes. But this was not only Carl. Every division chief had a way

of working with his agencies, and they varied all over the lot.
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Here we were putting a standardized way, "This is the way you will
deal with your agencies. You'll ask for program memoranda and PFP.
On the fifteenth of September this will happen, and then on the
eightéenth you'll do that. You are standardizing the system, and
you were thereby threatening long-established, implicit, unwritten
arrangements. And whenever yoﬁ do that, you've got a real problem.
M: Now I've read in the papers and elsewhere about the strength of
J. Edgar Hoover and how he controls the bureau and how presidents
cannot fire him. Can you explain to me how that's possible? What

kind of a system does he have whereby he can't be fired?

Z: Well, he could be fired.

M: Is it a political sort of thing?

Z: You'd catch a Tot of hell for it, and why do it?

M: You mean, you'd catch the heat from the Hi11? Is that where it

would come from?

Z: Public opinion, newspaper stories. Generally, thiﬁk of why don't
attorney generals recommend that he be fired, they're closer to
it. From all practical concerns they don't have much control over
him, yet I haven't heard very many of them go on national press
and say, "This man and agency is out of contfo], and therefore by
the rules of Harvard Business School he ought to be fired." You
just make a political assessment.

M: Could the Budget Bureau go into the FBI and review their budgets?

Z: Yes, oh yes. What would happen, basically, is that Congress would

overturn us. We gave them a budget. Basically, we probably went
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along with their desires more than we would have otherwise, because
we didn't 1ike to get beaten too badly either. Everybody had a
stake in this, and when we would recommend a budget that the Presi-
dent wouldn't accept, the Congress wouldn't accept, then we lost
some of our credibility. So everybody involved in this process is
trying to push his point of view as hard as he éan without losing
his credibility.

M: Is this jmportant for a director? I mean, you've got to win a
certain percentage?

Z: That's‘exact?y right, or you're irrelevant. I-think if you look
at the history of the mid-fifties, it came close to that. Ike
decided to Took more to the Secretary‘of the Treasury, George
Humphrey, remember how powerful he was. I think it's fair
to say that before Maurice Stans, Maurice Stans was thé
last Eisenhower budget director and a very strong guy, the Budget
Bureau became a pretty passive organization. If I couldn't have won
at least 501per cent, better than 50 per cent of those cases that
we took to the President, hell, nobody would have bothered to
talk with me. So that was just terribly important.

The only authority the budget director has what-

ever the President implies. They've been whooping it up about
Mayo having more authority over the military. Nixon said, "Whenever
Bob says something, I mean it." That is the cliche on that.

M: How was it working with Lyndon Johnson? Was he difficult to talk

with?
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Z: Yes. Well, I don't know that he was difficult to talk with,

Let me put it this way, was he accessible in the first place? Could

you see him when you wanted to?

Z: Yes, I think he was always accessible to the budget director.
M: Did he listen to you?
Z: Yes, he listened to you sometimes. He was a very complex person,

hard driving, usually had a c]gar objective in mind whenever you
talked with him. My impressioﬁ was that, and I think we touched
on this in the last interview, he viewed the Budget Bureau ahd
. the budget director as being an important source of information
that he wanted to have available to him. Lots of times he would
depreciate it or say we were politically naive and didn't under-
~stand that, but he wanted to hear our side of the issue. 50 I
canhdt complain. I just don't}know how to judge if half the
times I picked up the phone I got right through to him, but I don't
think it was ever that he sort of hid from me for more than a day
or two. So I would say by those ground rules I had very good
access to him. I think Schultze had at least that much also.
Now partly the times required that because of expenditure
cuts and so forth. But I think it was more than that the times
demanded it, I think it was partly his view. As I think I said
earlier, he said, "I didn't choose the budget director. You were
recommended by Schultze and Schultze was recommended by Kermit
Gordon." He respected the bureau as being a professional outfit.

He 1iked a professional, what he considered was a more professional
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point of view coming to him, as well as C. R. Smith or Joe Fowler
saying, "Let me tell you what the bankers are going to say," or

"Let me tell you what the airlines are going to say," or something.
He absorbed a hell of a lot of data. I don't know what he did
with it all, but he read a lot, he talked to a lot of people on
phones, he just operated in that fashion.

M: Did he understand what you told him?

Z: I think so. My impression of his intelligence is very impressive
as a man with figures, a man who could calculate. He could calcu-
Tate just about as fast as any man I've seen. 1 consider myself
and Charlie Schultze and Bob McNamara probably the three best
calculators, and he could do percentages and so forth [very well].
You'd get requests for some data. I remember once we sent over
some data, and he had an instinct. He'd say, "Dig out this data
and do it this way," and sometimes you'd dig it out and do it this
way and it would show in a favorable 1ight. I think he had a real
flair for numbers.. He prided himself on remembering statistics
and being able to pull them out and that became at the end almost a
thing that they kidded him about. He was always quating, "Health
iS up 322 per cent and education 400," and so forth. I think, a, his
1.Q. was very high as far as I could see, b, in terms of data and
analysis of numbers, that sort of facility, he had it, and there-
fore he understood quite well, unless he didn't want to under-
stand. As I said earlier, how much you were rubbing off on him

and how much he was rubbing off on you, I don't know. But, as you
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know, he always liked to have everybody agreeing.
M: Was he interested in governmental administration, just the sheer
management of the bureaus and agencies?
Z: Well, yes and no. No, in the sense that he didn't spend a great
deal of time, and I don't think the President should spend a great
deal of time dn these things. Yes, in the sense that he always
had this feeling that you had to raise hell with the bureaucracy.
That's why he agreed with the Program Planning and Budget System.
Yes, in the sense that he'd get down into details. He'd start
Tooking at them, "Where do you get this 25?" or "Where do you
get this 50?" That's why as budget director it was important that
Schultze or 1 knew where those numbers came from. I doubt that
Nixon looks at that level. He was a detail man, as you've heard,
and it was a question of whether he should have been,in that much
detail. Detail includes administration. Whether this was a tactic
because he felt every once in a while he had to dig down in there
Jjust to keep us all honest, or whether he was genuinely interested
in this, I don't know.
Did you ever have trouble getting decisions out of him?
Yes. But that was when he didn't want to, you know.

For his own reasons?

N =2 N =

Yes, for his own reasons. I don't think it was an inability to make
hismindup, I think he was waiting, dragging, hoping. Politicians
are invariant optimists and feel that eventually something is going

to happen that'll solve their problem.
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M: Did you ever have the feeling that he was not in charge of things?

I mean: he was a strong president?

Z: Oh yes, without any doubt. _

M: What did you think about his energy, his working hours? Did he‘work
hard?

Z: The public stories are correct; he did work hard, drove himself

hard. The only thing I can't imagine is what he's doing now,
because that was quite a letdown. No, he did take his naps. What
used to drive us crazy was you never knew when he was going to

take his nap, and then he'd come back ready to go to work again.

It was the uncertainty of his hours that made it difficult to

be arcund him. |

M: Was there any particular time of day that you'd'try to see him?

Z: Yes. There wsre several times, either early in the morning--this
used to be embarrassing; one of his favorite times Qou]d be about
eight-thirty or so, he'd start calling me and 1'd be in the
car at that point, wouldn't be in yet--or right after his nap
was a good time to catch him, about five o'clock.

M: Would he be more receptive?

Z: It was a combination of things. Yes, he'd be more receptive
and also his schedule was better. Usually he had meetings in the -
morning, and there was usually a ceremony around the noon hour
or something and he'd be running behind and really pressed. The
five o'clock time and early in the morning were sort of'starts

of two days, soO you caught him there or then later on, just before
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seven or eight o'clock, before he would be going back to the
mansion. Lots of times I would ask either Harv Watson or later
Jim Jones, “When's a good time to call him?" So we just wouldn't
call him out of the blue. They'd say, “"Well, it's bad now, but if
you call him . . ." I had some general habit patterns that I

knew about, but they had a feel for the intimate schedule and they
could tell you.

M: Did he contact you at all hours of night and day, or did he mainly
confine his calls to the daytime?

Z: A1l times of day. I don't think it wds as bad as the case when

Schultze was there, but again, remember I came in in January and

oﬁ March 31 he said he wasn't going to run again. The worst time
it seemed to me was when he would be down in Texas. The plane
would go down with a pouch, and he'd start reading that about ten
or eleven o'clock their time, which would be one o'clock here. Then
he'd get on the phone and ring those guys out of bed. Fortunately

I wasn't director at that time.

But he called on Sunday. In fact one of the most vivid memories

I have is the first Sunday I was'budget director we got up and went
to church, as we normally do on Sunday, and by the time we got

back they had the police out and the place was just being torn

apart because he was reading something and he said, "Get me
Zwick." The White House operator started calling, ahd they rang.
Schultze said he had six kids so it was never a problem, fﬁey always

got an answer. They could always find out where Schultze was, but
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they couldn't find out where I was. They called all the secre-
taries énd my friends, and they said I was probably in church,
Catholic Church. By thén the police were out to Took to drag me
out. So I finally got there, and the operator said, "Never go away
without telling him where you are, without telling the White House
switchboard."

Were you careful about that after that?

I was reasonably careful. Sometimes I got sloppy, but by and large
they knew where they could find me.

Lyndon Johnson has been characterized as having a hot temper, is
that true? Impatience? Temper?

Impatience, temper, yes.

Did this ever bother you? »
Yes, at times he could be . . . How much of this was effect, was--
Calculated?

--calculated, and how much of this--when you think of temper, hot
temper, you're thinking of a person who loses control of himself.
I was never quite sure how much he had lost control of himself

and how much this was staging. He was a great stage master, and
so I never could disentangle how much of this was real,

Was there ever any particular incident that you remember where he
became especially impatient?

Lots of them.

Was this evefAdirected at you?

Yes.
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M: Can you give me a specific exampie?

Z: I could think of several of them, which I don't think I will. If
you remember, at the end of the administration all cabinet officers
were going to start-doing all the things they hadn't done for
eight years in the last few months. This was a real conflict,

I'm convinced, between the President and the cabinet officers. He
was looking at the history books and how they would view his turning
over the administration and saying, "What we do in the last few
months won't be that important in the total, but the way the tran-
sition takes place will be important to view in the history of this
thing." Therefore he was telling me, "Don't let these cabinet
officers make these decisions," and "The cabinet officers are all
trying to see how the history books will write their future."
Wilbur Cohen was making easier rules on welfare--remember, he changed
the wnole certification procedure inwelfare; A]an_ﬁoyd changed the
rules on highway hearings; Bill Wirtz reorganized the Department of
Labor and got all the state labor people mad; the Internal Revenue
Service was doing all sorts of things to change tax rules. And he
was catching hell. One Sunday he called me up and chewed me up
and down on that, and I remember having to call up Wirtz. I found
him somewnere, and 1 found Joe Fowler in New York and Alan Boyd
somewhere else and gave them all hell and said not to do it. |

But in the case of this Labor Department one, this got fouled
up in a sense. Califano, Jim Gaither and I sort of talked about

it, and then I sort of backed out of it, and Gaither had it. It
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seemed 1ike a sensible thing to do, and I didn't pay any attention
to it. Bang it came out, and he was just furious. I remember I
was coming home, and hecalled me up and said, "Did you approve
this?" I said, "I talked about it. In the sense of approving
»Tt,toté]] them to go ahead without your knowing about it, no, sir,
but I gave them my blessings on the idea, that is true. But I
turned it over basically to Califano and Gaither. I assumed that
before they finally said 'go' that they would get your okay." That
was a case where he was really mad. I think one reason I knew he
was very mad was he said, "Okay, partner," or something like that.
That Texas slang would slip out when he was really mad, bang, and
he would hang up. Sure, he had a quick temper. How ruch of it,
‘though, was calculated and how much wasn't was something I don't
know.

M: He also has the reputation of being crude. Those who dislike him
and write about him always play this up. Is this true, is he
earthy in language?

Z: Yes. I think he's sort of quick tempered, hard driving, erratic.
in schedule, crude in the sense of language and general behavior,
social graces, yes. At times drive you almost out of your mind.
You're ready to say, "Good-bye and good luck, I've had it," ﬁhere-
upon he would turn and would be very warm and affectionate in a
way that would surprise you. So I didn't see that many people quit
out of not being able to take this.

M: Did he ever show warmth to you?
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Z: Yes, I don't think he ever thought of me as being one of his
intimates, I want to be clear on that, but I think the Budget
Bureau and the budget director had this special status that I
argued earlier, sort of the last professional advice he was getting
as compared to a more political advice. When'things were going
wrong once in awhile he would turn right around, sit and talk for
a long time. The last night we were deciding on the surcharge,
at the time I was considering becoming Dean of the Woodrow Wilson
School at Princeton, and he heard that and the two of us sat there
for an hour or so. He was talking about the Lyndon B. Johnson
School; how Lady Bird had been up to Princeton and thought it was a
great school. That would be great if I was there; he could come
up there and lecture. No, he could be a very warm person when he
wanted to be. So I think with most people, just about the time
they were ready to blow, he would pull it all back in.

M: Now we've been talking about his virtues and faults both, are there
any other particular faults that gave you difficulty?

Z: His erratic schedule, we mentioned this, made it difficult to work
with him. No, I don't have any other.

M: Any other virtues, then, that we haven't brought up?

Z: No, I think his virtues are his intelligence and his basic policy
instincts and hard drive and toughness, which were all qualities
that you need in a president. His inability to essentially portray
this to the public, I think, was his downfall. On the other part,

if I have any complaint, I think he made a wmistake with the defense
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establishment by really overestimating his own competence and the
strength of McNamara vis-a-vis the military establishment. I really
do think that he did himself a disservice there. Whether it ever
would have been any different, I don't know.

M: You mean relying too much on the advice of--

Z: Relying too much on them. When Kennedy was president, Dave Bell and
Jerry Wiesner--again, Jerry Wiesner, our science adviser, had a very
special relationship to Kennedy, was a good personal friend--sat
in on all the major budget decisions. As soon as Johnson became
president, the budget director sort of got peeled off to the final
meeting. He had his rights to argue with McNamara and the Joint
Chiefs and some members, but in the end the President sat down
and loved to negotiate this out with the Joint Chiefs. Kermit
Gordon tells famous stories how he was brought in to be used as
the guy to draw the fire away from McNamara when the Joint Chiefs
were really mad at each 6ther and so forth. But he really enjoyed
that, and I think would have felt confident enough in the area.

Now I don't think the record is that good, whether it would have
been any different I don't know. But it went on that way until
the very end, when in the last budget cycle he brought me into
it. I think mainly at that point he was trying to get out of
office and was trying to get the defense budget down, and he let
me participate. I think if anything his strength, and he had
tremendous strength, led him to be overconfident that he could

handle all these things. And that's dangerous.
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M: Any general qmpression about the quality of the White House staff?
Good? Bad?
Z: It varied, it was mixed. Some of the best were just very good,

I think, as far as--

M: Califano?

Z: Califano was just a very capable person. I wouldn't agree with
everything he did, but in terms of basic I.Q., hard work, drive,
energy, he was a very capable person. Harry McPherson was a very
capable berson. Some of the people Califano had working for him,
which I think is a good test, were first-rate, Larry Levinson, Jim

Gaither, Fred Bohen, Matt Nimetz.

-z

How about Doug Cater?

L Then you had another group who had certain roles to play. Doug
Cater is a person I like very much; I Tike him as a person more
than I 1ike Califano as a person, but he was just nowhere near that
effective. Just wasn't that effective, just wasn't ready for the
rough and tumbie of the White House. He was a special pleader, in
my view, for the HEW programs. That was fair, but he wasn't taking
a broader viewpoint. So he had a role to play and played it well,
but among the equals, he wasn't one of the more equal. Califano
clearly was; Moyers was when he was there; Harry McPherson was in
a very special way.

M: What about Marvin Watson? He draws lots of comment.

Z: Marvin left soon after I became budget dfrector to go over to the

Post Office. I don't know. I don't think of Maryin as being the
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world's greatest administrator. Whether he was therefore very
influential or not, I dpn't know. The question of how influential
was he, I don't know.

M: Now, that did you do to prepare for the transition to Nixon? You've
a]reédy brought up certain aspects of this, but what else did you da?

Z: The bureau has always played a central role in transition. It's the
one who puts together the transition papers. There are a hundred
or so of these that we put together. We appointed one of the
brighter young staff members.

M: You had specific orders from the President to do this?

Z: Yes. We started to do this, and then he appointed Charlie Murphy,
who had been through one of these before; to head it up from the
White House. Charlie did sit on top of it in a broad sense and
was his transition guy, but he let the bureau essentially do what
it always did. I had my deputy Sam Hughes go to those meetings.
So the bureau worked fairly autonomously, and it put together a
series of papers on departments and issues. I sat down and went over
them as to what the subject matters were, and then I decided that I
didn't want to see them. I didn't want to edit them. This was
essentially the career staff's papers to the new administration.
We did that.

Then of course there was this embarrassing period when Nixon

didn't appoint a budget director for quite a while, which I think
was a mistake. Afterwards I was just as happy he didn't, because

I realized what had happened in previous times, in 1960 and 1952, was



LBJ Presidential Library . ORAL HISTORY TRANSCRIPT More on LBJ Library oral histories:
http://www.lbjlibrary.org Lyndon B. Johnson Library Oral Histories [NAID 24617781] http://discoverlbj.org/exhibits/show/loh/oh

IWICK -- II -- 39

the new director came in, sat through the fall review sessions,
and while he couldn't partake in the decisions he heard the dialogue
and it was useful for him and helpful. My attitude was that was
fine and this wasn't going to be embarrassing to me, but I realized
afterwards it would have really inhibited the examiners, who were
looking at their new boss rather than just doing their job. So
I was just as glad he didn't do it, although I think he paid a
significant price in missing a useful set of dialogue.

Then they finally sent down Greenspan from New York. Green-
span came down, and I sat down and said, "Are you going to be
the budget director?" He sgid, "No, I just can't. My business.is
such that I can't possibly do it." Well, very soon after that
Bob Mayo was apoointed. He came on board, I had a couple of sessions
with Bob, and I said, "Look, you know the bureau staffﬁ-—he'd worked
with them in the budget congent commission;and-he'd worked with them
in the Treasury Department--"Good-bye and good ]uck.' They'11 be
telling you stuff that I don't want you to know and as long as
I don't know it it doesn't bother he." The bureau staff, which
is the career staff and has gone through these transitions, had
a way to handle this. All of a sudden he arrived on the scene, and
I said, "My God, we've got to find an office." 1 found they had
found a whole suite downstairs which they had cleaned out and
painted up. There were all sorts of things just happening. So
that in a sense if you said, "How much did you personally do in

the transition?" the answer is: very Tittle. And it's probably also
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true that it wasn't necessary.

M: This all reminds me of another pertinent question. After Johnson
decided not to run, the March 31 speech, and after the election in
November, was there any noticeable change in the reaction of the
bureaucracy to ybu? Did they slow down, did they not respond as
quickly, or anything of that nature?

Z: I don't think so. Again, they had been through this before.

And our policies, basically of buttoning down the hatches,

and that's what we were getting from instructions from the Presi-
dent, were consistent with what they would have done in this case.
If you had gone the direction of Orville Freeman and Wilbur Cohen,
"Let's go out with a great big final blast,” then it might have
been more of a problem. This did come up at one point when Cali-
fano wanted to draft a whole bunch of legislation to go with his
legislative program. Well, you could just see the staffs, they:
didn't want to go through that. It was a lot of hard work which
they knew would go for paught. Finally it just drifted away, and
there was no major push. Now if we had sthed them very hard

for a whole bunch of detailed draft bills and speeches, I think
we would have had this trouble. But the style in which we went
out was amenable to what the career service felt was reasonable.
They'd been through transitions before, and we were doing some-
thing which was, they thought, roughly right and they were coop-
erative.

M: I know you've got another appointment. Do you have any last comments
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you wish to make?

Z: No, we've covered quite a bit of the ground in these things.
M: Thank you for the interview.

[End of Tape 1 of 1 and Interview II]
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